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tTech does provide services that I think  

many businesses ought not to have inside 

their businesses anymore. These services 

need to be outsourced, and tTech certainly  

is the premiere provider of those 

outsourced services here in Jamaica.”

- Simon Roberts, Chief Information Officer,  
GraceKennedy Limited

LEAVE IT TO US

“Yes I would recommend tTech. I’ve 

done that several times before actually. 

The reason for that is because of tTech 

being very solution oriented. If you have 

a problem, anything tech, they like to 

find the solution for you.”

- Sheldon Powe, CIO, JMMB Group Limited
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Credo

MISsion

tTech Image:  We will uphold the 

image of tTech through our conduct, 

appearance and speech.

Teamwork & Communication: 

Our work environment will foster 

teamwork and communication so 

that the needs of our internal and 

external customers are always met.

Ownership: We will own and 

immediately start working to 

resolve a customer’s problem. 

If not resolved we will always provide 

timely updates until resolved.

Empowerment: We are empowered 

to take initiative and make decisions 

to always deliver and exceed our 

customers’ expectations.

Personal Development:  

We will take every opportunity to  

grow professionally, financially and 

realize our maximum potential.

Confidentiality: We will protect the 

privacy and security of our clients, 

colleagues and the Company’s 

confidential information and assets.

Commend:  

We will always recognize and 

encourage the efforts of team 

members.

Corporate Social Responsibility:   

We will support the communities 

to which we belong.
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MISsioncredo

Mission

Vision
To help 
achieve 
greatness by 
delivering 
insanely-good 
IT services!

We help organizations to maximize returns on  

their IT investments resulting in them providing  

glowing references.We provide a positive and honest environment  

which is underscored by a culture that minimizes 

bureaucracy, and embraces change.
tTech will impact the markets in which we operate  

by consistently raising the bar for the industry  

through innovation and continuous improvement.  

We contribute to causes that facilitate growth and 

opportunity for our communities.

tTech is a Jamaican company that 

delivers world-class IT services  

through empowered and engaged  

team members who provide an  

insanely-good customer experience.
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Financial Highlights

4 tTech Limited 2017 Annual Report

Total assets

$208M
(2016: $196M)

stock holders’ equity

$178.3M
(2016: $163.9M)

earnings per stock unit

$0.18
(2016: $0.37)

$18.6M
(2016: $39.3M)

net profit  
attributable 

to owners
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notIce of annual general meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2018 Annual General Meeting of tTech Limited (the “Company”) will be held on Thursday, June 21, 2018 
at 3:30 p.m. at the Knutsford Court Hotel Limited, 16 Chelsea Avenue, Kingston 5, Jamaica for the following purposes:

1.	 To receive the Company’s Audited Accounts and the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors for the year ended December 
31, 2017. To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following resolution:

Resolution No. 1 “That the Directors’ Report, the Auditor’s Report and the Statements of Account of the Company for the year 
ended December 31, 2017 be approved.”

2.	 To appoint Auditors and authorize the Directors to fix the remuneration of the Auditors. To consider and (if thought fit) pass 
the following resolution:

Resolution No. 2  “That Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants be and are hereby appointed Auditors of the Company to hold 
office until the next Annual General Meeting at a remuneration to be fixed by the Directors of the Company.”

3.	 The Directors to retire from office pursuant to Article 102 of the Articles of Incorporation are Thomas Chin, U. Philip 
Alexander & Joan-Marie Powell. 

Resolution No. 3  “To approve the election and re-election of Directors recommended for appointment to the Board of Directors 
of the Company. To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following resolutions:

a.	 “That retiring Director Thomas Chin be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

b.	 “That retiring Director U. Philip Alexander be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

c.	 “That retiring Director Joan-Marie Powell be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

4.	 To approve an interim dividend. To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following resolution:

Resolution No. 4  “That a dividend of J$0.04 per stock unit payable on September 27, 2017 to the ordinary stockholders of tTech, 
on record at September 6, 2017 be and is hereby approved. “ 

 
Dated this 24th day of April 2018.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Gillian Murray
Secretary

REGISTERED OFFICE
69 ½ Harbour Street
Kingston

A Member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a Proxy to attend and vote in his/her stead.   A Proxy need not be a Member of the Company. A Proxy Form is enclosed 
for your convenience. Completed Proxy Forms must be lodged at the Company’s Registered Office at least forty-eight hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting. The 
Proxy Form shall bear the stamp duty of $100.00 before being signed. The stamp duty may be paid by adhesive stamp(s) to be cancelled by the person executing the Proxy.



I am pleased to present the Annual Report for tTech Limited 
for the period ended December 31, 2017. During the year 
the company recorded revenues of $217.2 million which 
resulted in Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to 

Shareholders of $18.6 million, and Earnings Per Share of $0.18.
In 2017 revenues and profits were affected by customers 

opting to defer investments in projects, particularly for voice 
systems, which if realized would have boosted performance, 
as was the case in 2016. However, the company continued 
to develop its base of managed service customers through 
long-term contracts which provide recurrent revenue over the 
lifetime of the contracts.

The demand for tTech’s products and services remain 
strong, driven by the increasing use of information technology 
in all aspects of our society. This trend along with the growth 
in the adoption of cloud based services is also driving the 
demand for improving data networks in organizations, as well 
as the security of the networks and devices used to access and 
process data. Companies are also upgrading or deploying new 
business applications, and this is fueling demand for tTech’s 
consulting services.

Executive Changes
At the board level, in November 2017 the board decided 

on changes that became effective on March 1, 2018. At that 
time I stepped down as Chief Executive Officer and handed 
the baton to Christopher Reckord who joined tTech in 2013 
to lead the company’s Sales & Marketing team. Under Chris, 
we expect that tTech will continue to grow and develop to 
realize the potential that exist within the company, and to take 
advantage of the emerging opportunities in IT services.

On March 1st, I also assumed the role of Executive 
Chairman, taking over from Philip Alexander who led the 
board during the company’s transition from being privately 
owned to being a publicly listed company. Philip’s leadership 

and guidance during his tenure as Chairman was invaluable. 
Myself, my fellow directors and executives are extremely 
grateful to him for the service he provided to the company.

Gillian Murray was appointed Company Secretary on March 
1st, taking over that role from Christopher Reckord. Gillian has 
extensive knowledge of tTech and having just completed her 
Masters of Business Administration at the University of the West 
Indies, we are confident that she will excel in her new role.

As the company has developed so too has the board. In 
2017, a Corporate Governance Committee was established 
to improve the Corporate Governance practices of both the 
board and the company.  The Private Sector Organisation of 
Jamaica (PSOJ) Corporate Governance Code and the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Index will be used to 
guide our development in this area.

Committed to Growth
2018 is a year that we look forward to, as we plan to build 

on our accomplishments and execute on the strategy that was 
developed by the management team and approved by the 
board in 2017.

In closing, I would like to thank the board, all members of 
the tTech team, our valued customers and partners for their 
support during my period as the Chief Executive Officer. It was 
an honour to have led a team of talented young professionals. 
I look forward to my new leadership role and commit to 
working with the directors and executives to continue the 
development of a truly innovative, Jamaican company.

Edward Alexander
Executive Chairman

Chairman’s statement
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2018 is a year that we look forward to, as we plan to build on our 

accomplishments and execute on the strategy that was developed 

by the management team and approved by the board in 2017.
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It was an honour to have led a team of talented young professionals.  

I look forward to my new leadership role and commit to working 

with the directors and executives to continue the development  

of a truly innovative, Jamaican company.”

- Edward Alexander



For the year ended December 31, 2017, tTech Limited 
recorded revenues of $217.2 million (2016: $223.1 million) 
and Net Profit of $18.6 million (2016: $39.3 million). The 

reduction in revenue and profit was largely due to expected 
customer voice (PBX) projects being deferred and/or cancelled 
during the year. However, despite the reduction in project 
based revenue, the long term outlook for tTech remains bright 
as Monthly Recurring Revenue (MRR) for long term contracts 
with customers to provide ongoing managed services grew 
by approximately 9% during the year. Growth was also 
experienced in IT Security and Cloud based services, while 
there was a decline in revenue from Consulting services.

Monthly Recurring Revenue, is the most important type of 
revenue for a managed IT services provider such as tTech, as 
it results in more predictable revenue streams and resource 
requirements, including personnel. By contrast, project-based 
revenue is one-off in nature, and while it can contribute to 
short term revenues and profits, is less predictable for revenue 
and resource forecasting. Of note also was the renewal for 
another 3 years of the contract for our managed services with 
our largest customer.

As stated before, the long-term outlook for tTech remains 
bright due to the strong base of MRR from a growing 
customer base. This is supported by initiatives geared towards 
improving our engagement with customers and employees, as 
well as improving the services we provide for our customers. 
These initiatives are discussed below.

Customer Engagement
During 2017, tTech hosted events that provided 

opportunities for our team and our customers to have dialog 
outside of the office. Our customers greatly appreciated 
these activities as it created an opportunity to discuss issues 
that were impacting our customers and obtain feedback on 
their current and future needs.  We continue to demonstrate 
thought leadership for the industry as the tTech Consulting 

team hosted 3 successful IT Executive meetups termed “tTech 
Insights” where we discussed topics such as Data Driven 
IT Management, Realigning IT Decision-Making Rights, 
and Enterprise Content Management. With Information 
Technology and Digital Transformation on the agenda of many 
organizations, tTech team members were asked to deliver 
presentations to a wide range of audiences including our 
customers, and at events put on by the Jamaica Computer 
Society and the Human Resources Management Association 
of Jamaica. 

Team Engagement
In 2017, tTech increased its staff compliment to improve 

in the delivery of services to our expanding customer base. 
As the team grows, it has become more important for us 
to ensure cultural alignment and high engagement to 
consistently deliver an insanely good customer experience.  To 
support this drive for engagement, tTech made investments 
in online software tools that continuously measure employee 
engagement. The management team now receives weekly 
anonymous employee feedback along with an ongoing 
full employee engagement dashboard. This tool serves as a 
mechanism by which the views of both management and 
non-management personnel are provided to the executive 
team and thereby facilitate speedier implementation 
of changes to improve employee engagement and the 
company’s operations. 

Process Improvement  
tTech Limited is a unique IT Services provider in Jamaica in 

that it provides the majority of its services remotely and more 
importantly - proactively. As such, we need special software 
applications to execute & deliver our services. In our industry 
this is called a RMM (remote monitoring and management) 
application.  We also require tools to track all support activities 
and ensure invoices are generated accurately and timely – this 

CEO’s Report
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Our new Vision, Mission, and Credo build on the 
rally cry of our founder and Chairman Edward 
‘Teddy’ Alexander to “deliver an insanely good 
customer experience” and will be an important 
part of our foundation as we build tTech to 
new levels of performance and achievement.
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is the PSA (professional services automation) application.  In 
2017 we completed the installation of new RMM software that 
allows us to remotely support a wider range of customers and 
scale the delivery of our services. Towards the end of 2017, 
we completed the first phase of our process upgrades with 
the implementation of our new PSA software paving the way 
to scale up in 2018.  The newly implemented PSA tool will 
capture customer feedback for our services in almost real-
time giving us the ability to continuously measure customer 
satisfaction, and opportunities for improvement on an 
ongoing basis.  

Industry Recognition
tTech received recognition from two international 

organizations in 2017. In July, tTech Limited was ranked 
among the world’s most progressive 501 Managed Service 
Providers (MSPs) based on MSP Mentor’s 10th-annual MSP 501 
Worldwide Company Rankings. tTech was ranked as one of 
the “20 Most Promising Enterprise Security Solution Providers 
2017” in August 2017 Enterprise Security Special Edition of 
CIOReview – a technology & business magazine for corporate 
decision makers of enterprise IT.

Vision, Mission & Values 
Every great organization has guiding principles which 

all team members use to ensure that they are all rowing in 
sync and in the same direction.  In 2017 the management 
team held a planning retreat and met several times 
afterwards focusing on the fundamentals of the business, our 
environment, emerging technologies and changing customer 
needs.  This resulted in the creation of a 5 year (2018-2022) 
strategic plan and an updating and a refresh of our vision, 
mission and values in support of the plan. Team members 
representing each department also came together to create 
the credo that we believe is critical in realizing our vision:  
“To help achieve greatness by delivering insanely good IT 
Services”.

Our new Vision, Mission, and Credo build on the rally cry 
of our founder and Chairman Edward ‘Teddy’ Alexander to 
“deliver an insanely good customer experience” and will be 
an important part of our foundation as we build tTech to new 
levels of performance and achievement.

Corporate Social Responsibility 
Our Corporate Social Responsibility initiatives provide 

support for the communities of which both tTech and 
individual team members are a part. Supporting technology 
related education was high on the agenda. We continue to 
support activities in alignment with this that are hosted by 
the associations and membership organizations to which we 
belong. 

Outlook 
tTech continues to differentiate itself from other IT 

companies in Jamaica by focusing on the delivery of services. 
The company continues to develop its marketing activities 
primarily through our digital platforms including our website 
www.ttech.com.jm, Facebook & LinkedIn.  Please follow us 
on all these channels for continuous updates and valuable IT 
information.

Many companies are coming to the realization that it is 
more efficient for them to outsource the management and 
support of their IT systems to tTech than to develop and 
maintain those skills in-house. 

During the last quarter of 2017, we saw an upswing in 
expressions of interest for all of our services. In addition, 
we concluded a partnership with Loris Technologies, the 
developer of the FileNexus Enterprise Content Management 
application. These developments provide an optimistic 
outlook for 2018.  

In 2018, tTech will continue to be on the lookout for 
mutually beneficial partnerships, including merger & 
acquisition opportunities, while continuing to execute our 
strategic plans including the exploration of growing revenues 
outside of Jamaica.

A very special thanks to our Board of Directors, our 
management and team members for the hard work and 
dedication in 2017

G. Christopher Reckord
Chief Executive Officer

20 MOST PROMISING
ENTERPRISE SECURITY
SOLUTION PROVIDERS - 2017

tTech 
Awards
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board of directors

U. Philip Alexander, B.Sc. 
Mr. U. Philip Alexander is the former Chairman of  
the Board of Directors who demitted that post as of  
March 1, 2018.  

With a Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering 
from North East London Polytechnic, he has honed and 
shaped his career with various academic endeavours 
including the MIT Executive Program in Corporate 
Strategy, Product Development and Manufacturing 

Strategy at Stanford University Business School, and 
the Program for Management Development from 
Harvard University Business School.

He is currently retired and serves as a Director for the 
GraceKennedy Foundation, Grace & Staff Community 
Development Foundation and Mona Institute of 
Applied Science. 

Mr. Alexander is the Chairman of the Corporate 
Governance Committee and a member of the 
Company’s Audit and Remuneration Committees. 

Edward Alexander, B.Sc., M.Sc. 
Mr. Alexander is the Company’s founder and former 
Chief Executive Officer, and Executive Chairman as of 
March 1st, 2018. 

Under his leadership the company steadily 
developed and in January 2016 tTech became the 
first Jamaican information technology company 
to be listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange. His vision is to assist companies to 
improve the effectiveness of their investments in 
information technology by minimizing the cost of 

ownership of their infrastructure while maximizing 
the value from their business applications, ultimately 
leading to systems which contribute to increased 
competitiveness and profitability. 

He holds a Master of Science degree from the 
University of Pennsylvania and a Bachelor of Science 
degree from the University of Windsor. In addition, he 
has completed professional courses at the Harvard 
Business School and the University of Florida.

He serves on the board of his alma mater, Jamaica 
College and CAC 2000 Ltd.

G. Christopher Reckord, M.B.A.
Mr. Reckord is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer 
appointed March 1st, 2018 and Acting Director of Sales 
and Marketing.   

His formal education includes a diploma in Industrial 
Education (with a specialization in Electrical 
Technology) from the University of Technology, and 
a Masters in Business Administration (MBA) from 
Barry University. He has also completed thousands of 

hours of technical training, management courses and 
seminars.

He serves as the Chairman of eLearning Jamaica, and is 
a Director of the Jamaica Computer Society. He is also 
a member of the PSOJ and is currently the Chairman of 
its Membership Committee.

Mr. Reckord is an Executive Director of the Company.

Norman Chen, B.Sc. 
Mr. Chen is the Company’s Technical Services Director 
with the ability to apply his vast skill-sets to the 
singular goal of offering the most comprehensive 
solutions to clients who rely on the company’s 
innovative services.

He is also an accomplished academic who has a 
Bachelor of Science in Computer Science from the 
University of the West Indies, a Research Fellowship 
from Brown University, Rhode Island, USA and 
several certifications in Information Technology from 
recognized institutions.

Mr. Chen is an Executive Director of the Company.  
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board of directors

Hugh Allen, B.Sc.
Mr. Allen is the Company’s Connectivity & Voice 
Solutions Manager. Responsible for LAN Management, 
WAN Management, Telecoms Management, Server 
Management, Infrastructure Management and E-Mail 
Administration. 

He holds a Bachelor of Science double major in the 
areas of Business Management and Computer Science 

and a Diploma in Computer Management and System 
Analysis and Design from the Royal British Computer 
Society. Mr Allen holds certifications from Microsoft, 
Cisco, and Asterisk PBX systems.

Mr. Allen is an Executive Director of the Company. 

Thomas J. Chin, CMA, CPA 
Mr. Chin is a Non-Executive Director of the Company 
with over forty-five years of experience and knowledge 
in Accounting/Finance and Information Systems. 

He is a Chartered Professional Accountant and holds 
a Diploma in Accounting and Finance from Seneca 
College.

Thomas is currently retired and was the Vice-President 
of Finance at Columbus Communications Jamaica 
Limited (FLOW) and Director of Financial Operations at 
Rogers Communications in Canada.   

Mr. Chin is the Chairman of the Company’s Audit 
Committee.

Richard Downer, CD. 
Mr. Downer is the Company’s Board Mentor in 
accordance with the rules of the Junior Market of 
the Jamaica Stock Exchange. He has responsibility 
for advising on the implementation of adequate 
procedures, systems and controls for financial 
reporting, corporate governance, timely disclosure of 
information to the market, and general compliance. 

He was educated at Eastbourne College, Sussex, 
England and McGill University in Montreal, Canada 
and qualified as a Chartered Accountant in Canada. 
Mr. Downer is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of Jamaica and a recipient of its 
Distinguished Member Award.

Mr. Downer is a former Senior Partner of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Jamaica. He currently 
serves as a Director on the Board of Sagicor Group 
Jamaica Limited and Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited 
and as Chairman of their Audit Committees and as a 
member of the Investment Committee. Mr. Downer is 
also the Board Mentor of Dolphin Cove Limited and a 
member of the Rating Committee of cariCRIS Limited. 

He is a Chartered Accountant and Financial Adviser. 

Joan-Marie Powell, B.Sc., M.B.A. 
Ms. Powell is a Non-Executive Director of the Company 
and a former Managing Director of GraceKennedy 
Money Services Limited (GKMS) until December 
2013 when she retired. Powell’s technical insight and 
operational expertise strengthened the company’s 
culture of innovation which saw GKMS expanding 
into new markets and extending its service portfolio, 
reaching seven other markets in the Caribbean. 

She holds a Bachelor of Science in Management 

Studies and a Masters in Business Administration, 
specializing in the management of technology, from 
the University of the West Indies. 

She serves as a member of the Board of Directors of the 
Immaculate Conception High School as well as Grace 
and Staff Community Development Foundation. She is 
a Justice of the Peace for the Parish of Kingston and a 
member of the Kiwanis Club of New Kingston. 

Ms. Powell is the Chairman of the Company’s 
Remuneration Committee.
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senior managers

Hortense Gregory-
Nelson, ACCA, CFP 
Mrs. Gregory Nelson is the 
Finance & Administration 
Manager with responsibility 
for accounting and financial 
auditing. 

She is a Certified Chartered 
Accountant with ACCA 
accreditation and holds the 
Certified Financial Planner (CFP) 
credentials, accredited by the 
Chartered Banker Institute.

Gillian Murray,  
B.B.A., M.B.A.
Gillian Murray is the Marketing & 
Human Resources Manager and 
Company Secretary as at March 
1st, 2018. She is responsible for 
developing the marketing strat-
egy for the company in line with 
company objectives and leading 
the HR programs and policies. 

Her formal education includes 
a Bachelor of Business Ad-
ministration in Marketing & 
Finance from the University of 
Technology, and a Masters in 
Business Administration from 
the University of the West 
Indies, Mona School of Business 
and Management. She has also 
completed trainings in informa-
tion technology courses, digital 
marketing and management 
courses. 

Eldin Reynolds, E.M.B.A. 
Mr. Reynolds is the Resolution 
Manager with responsibility 
for Data Protection, Server 
Management, Infrastructure 
Management and Email Admin-
istration.

He is a graduate of the 
University of the West Indies, 
Mona School of Business & 
Management with an Executive 
Master of Business Administra-
tion degree. He holds several 
technical certifications such as 
VMware Certified Professional 
in the areas of Cloud Comput-
ing (VCP-Cloud) and Datacenter 
Virtualization (VCP-DV5), Cloud 
Infrastructure and Services (EM-
CCIS) and Information Storage 
(EMCISA). 

John Gibson, B.Sc. 
Mr. Gibson is the Senior IT Secu-
rity Officer with responsibility 
for implementing procedures 
and policies designed to protect 
networks, data and other digital 
assets.

He is a Certified Information 
Systems Security Professional 
(CISSP) and is Certified Informa-
tion Security Manager (CISM) 
and is certified in Risk and Infor-
mation Systems Control (CRISC). 
He holds a Bachelor of Science 
in Computer and Management 
Studies from the University of 
Technology. 
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Marcelle Smart,  
B.Sc., M.Sc.
Ms. Smart is the Consulting 
Services Manager. Her multi-fac-
eted portfolio includes support 
for: 

1. Financial, Retail, Food 
Manufacturing & Distribution 
industries; 

2. IT Financial Management and 

3. IT Due Diligence to support 
Mergers & Acquisitions.

Ms. Smart is proud to name the 
University of the West Indies 
(Mona) as her alma mater for 
both her degrees in Electron-
ics (Bachelor of Sciences) and 
Computer Based Management 
Information Systems (Master 
of Sciences). Further, Ms. Smart 
has, on multiple occasions, 
served the University as an 
Adjunct Lecturer in the area of 
User Interface Design. 

Omar Bell, B.Sc. 
Mr. Bell is the Lead Engineer for 
Cloud Services ‐ Special Projects 
& Customer Service Manager. 
His responsibilities include the 
deployment of cloud technol-
ogies in a cloud service model, 
in addition to leading and 
motivating the team to deliver 
an insanely good customer 
experience.  

His educational background 
includes a Bachelor of Science 
in Electrical & Computer Engi-
neering from the University of 
West Indies, Saint Augustine, 
Trinidad, as well as training in 
multiple areas such as Certified 
Information Systems Auditing, 
Microsoft Azure, Microsoft 
System Center, Active Directory 
and PowerShell.  

He is currently pursuing a Mas-
ters of Business Administration 
at Edinburgh Business School.

We’ve come to rely heavily 

on the experience, expertise 

and the level of security 

– that extra layer or level 

of security that tTech 

offers to us. I personally 

have recommended tTech 

as a company that, from 

a technical standpoint, is 

reliable, trustworthy  

and innovative.”

- Terrence Cooper, CEO,  
CRIF Information Bureau Jamaica

LEAVE IT TO US
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Corporate Data

Registered  
and Head Office 
tTech Limited
69 ½ Harbour Street,  
Kingston, Jamaica 
Telephone: (876) 656-8448
Facsimile: (876) 922-0569
Email: info@ttech.com.jm
Website: www.ttech.com.jm

Auditors 
Ernst & Young  
Chartered Accountants 
8 Olivier Road, Kingston 8, 
Jamaica W.I.  
Telephone: (876) 969-9000/
925-2501
Facsimile: (876) 755-0413
Website: www.ey.com

Bankers
Bank of Nova Scotia  
Jamaica Limited 
Scotiabank Centre 
Corner of Duke and  
Port Royal Streets 
Kingston

First Global Bank Limited
Corner of Duke  
and Harbour Streets
2 Duke Street
Kingston

Top Ten Shareholders 

As at December 31, 2017

Edward Charles Alexander (Charmaine Dawn Alexander)	 41,567,834

Auctus Holdings Inc. 	 15,549,250  

Enqueue Inc. 	 15,391,566 

Hugh O’Brian Allen 	 8,806,028 

Mayberry West Indies Limited                            	 3,351,655

Marcelle Smart     	 2,026,105

GraceKennedy (2009) Pension Plan 	 1,604,893  

Douglas Orane  	 881,448                                                                       

Ravers Limited 	 806,448 

JA. Credit Union Pension Fund 	 806,448 

Shareholdings of Directors & Connected Parties

As at December 31, 2017

Edward Charles Alexander (Charmaine Dawn Alexander)	 41,567,834

Gordon Christopher Reckord (Auctus Holdings Inc.)	 15,549,250

Norman Abraham Chen (Enqueue Inc.)	 15,391,566

Hugh O’Brian Allen	 8,806,028

Uriah Philip Alexander	 267,965

Thomas J. Chin 	 100,000 

Joan Marie Powell	 32,000

Shareholdings of SENIOR MANAGERs  
& Connected Parties  

As at December 31, 2017

Edward Charles Alexander (Charmaine Dawn Alexander)	 41,567,834

Gordon Christopher Reckord (Auctus Holdings Inc.)	 15,549,250

Norman Abraham Chen (Enqueue Inc.)	 15,391,566

Hugh O’Brian Allen	 8,806,028

Marcelle Smart 	 2,026,105

Hortense Althea Gregory-Nelson (Janelle Nelson)  	 734,523

John Samuel Gibson	 722,727

Eldin Reynolds	 260,000

Omar St. Elmor Bell	 240,909

Gillian Murray	 240,909
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Introduction 

tTech  is a Jamaican company 
providing world class IT 

services. This is accomplished by a combination 
of fostering an ethical work environment that 
allows team members to strive for excellence 
and personal growth; and being empowered to 
represent the company to provide an insanely 
good customer experience by consistently 
exceeding all customer expectation. 

On January 7, 2016 tTech became the first 
Jamaican Information Technology company to 
be listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange. As a public listed company, 
we are committed to providing value to our 

shareholders, and are governed by a Board 
of Directors with extensive knowledge and 
experience in their respective fields.

The company is grounded in the belief that 
accountability to its stakeholders is a business 
imperative, and good governance practices that 
positively impact the company’s performance 
and long-term viability are essential. 

These measures guide our transparency and 
integrity practices. Additionally, good governance 
lends itself to ethical principles which create a 
culture of respect and compliance. 

This Corporate Governance Statement 
outlines the key elements of the Company’s 
corporate governance framework. 

Corporate  
Governance 
Statement  
& Report
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Structure of the Board and its Committees 

Board Charter
The Board of Directors is committed to ensuring the 

effective governance of the company. As the body responsible 
for this, the board establishes broad policies and objectives 
and ensures that sufficient resources are available to enable 
the company to meet these objectives. 

The board was chaired by Non-Executive Director U. Philip 
Alexander up to February 28, 2018. On March 1, 2018 Edward 
Alexander became the Executive Chairman having stepped 
down as Chief Executive Officer. At that time Christopher 
Reckord was appointed CEO, and  Gillian Murray took over the 
role of Company Secretary from Mr Reckord.

The Board comprises three Non-Executive Directors 
and four Executive Directors. Mr. Richard Downer was also 
appointed Board Mentor in November 2015 and continues to 
serve in this position

The board meets quarterly to discuss and review the 
performance of the company to ensure that the strategy 
and key objectives are being satisfactorily pursued by the 
management team. Two other meetings are held during the 
year to review the company’s long term strategy along with 
the budget and operating plans for the upcoming year. The 
board takes into account the economic, social and regulatory 
environment and the risks that may exist in the markets in 
which the company operates.

Board Committees
The Board has established an Audit Committee, a 

Remuneration Committee and a Corporate Governance 
Committee. These committees are made up primarily of the 
Non-Executive Members of the Board and have the right to 
co-opt members of the executive management team as is 
deemed necessary.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was formed in 2016 and its main 
functions are oversight of : 

1. Financial reporting and compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements 

2. Internal controls 
3. Risk management
4. Internal and external audits  
5. Budgeting and forecasting

During the year the committee focused on:
1. Balancing the work load between the staff and moving 

responsibilities around.
2. Oversight of the Annual Audit.
3. Understanding and getting explanations of the financial 

results and what it means operationally.
4. Ensuring that  the financial reports were completed and 

checked in a timely manner.
5. Ensuring that the external reporting were completed and 

corporate governance

Number of Boards & Committee Meetings  	 7	 4	 4	 1	 1

Names 	 Board 	 Audit	 Remuneration 	 Corporate	 Annual General 
				    Governance	 Meeting 2017

Board of Directors						      	

U. Philip Alexander, Chairman	 7	 4	 4	 1	 1		

Edward Alexander	 7	 4	 4	 1	 1		

Christopher Reckord	 6	 3	 4	 1	 1

Hugh Allen	 6	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a	 1

Joan-Marie Powell	 6	 4	 4	 1	 1

Thomas Chin	 7	 4	 4	 1	 1		

Norman Chen 	 6	 4	 4	 n/a	 --		

Gregory Henry *	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a	 n/a		

Richard Downer (Mentor)	 6	 4	 3	 1	 --

tTech  Limited Board of Directors’ Meeting
December 2016-December 2017	

* The following board changes occurred during 2017. Mr Gregory Henry was on leave of absence and subsequent resignation effective August 9, 2017   
The Corporate Governance Committee was established on May 9, 2017
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filed on time.
6. Refining monthly financial reports and determining 

which formats are best suited for the company. 

In 2018 the main focus will be on:
1.	 Producing a flash financial report (including revenues, 

operating income and bank/investment balances) by the 
end of the fifth working day after month end.

2.	 Moving to shorter cut-off times for monthly, quarterly 
and annual reporting, based on the best practice 
benchmarks for companies of our size and to meet all 
statutory requirements.

3.	 Working with our External Auditors to have the final 
draft of the audited financial report at least 10 working 
days before the Jamaica Stock Exchange deadline. 

4.	 Identifying major risks to the company and ways of 
mitigating those risks.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Thomas Chin 
and comprises the other Non-Executive Directors. The CEO, 
Finance and Administration Manager,  Technical Services 
Director and the Mentor are invitees to this committee.

Remuneration  Committee
The Remuneration Committee was formed in 2016 and its 
main functions are: 

1.	 Oversight of the company’s compensation and benefits 
policies.

2.	 Overseeing and setting compensation for the company’s 
Executive Officers, including its Executive Chairman, CEO 
and Non-Executive Directors.

3.	 Developing an Incentive Scheme for the Senior 
Executives.

4.	 Overseeing the establishment of appropriate human 
resource strategies and policies.

During the year the committee focused on:
1.	 Assisting and advising on the restructuring of the Board 

for 2018.
2.	 Developing an Incentive Scheme for the Executive 

Officers.
3.	 Setting of Executive Salaries.
4.	 Advising on HR policies and procedures.

In 2018 the main focus will be on succession planning. The 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Ms. Joan-Marie 
Powell and comprises the other Non-Executive Directors. 
The CEO and Technical Services Director and the Mentor are 
invitees to this committee.

Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee was formed in 2017 
and its main functions are:

1.	 Governance Policies - Creation and review
2.	 Board Membership – Selection and Recruitment
3.	 Board Training and Education
4.	 Board Performance and Evaluation

During the year the committee focused on:
1. The implementation of a Whistleblowers Policy. 
2.	 Assisting with the reorganization of the Board for 2018.
3.	 Review of the company’s Jamaica Stock Exchange/PSOJ 

Corporate Governance profile.

In 2018 the main focus will be on:
1.	 Training and Education for the Board and Senior 

Managers.
2.	 Improving the Corporate Governance profile.

The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee is 
Mr. U. Philip Alexander and comprises the other Non-Executive 
Directors.

Responsibilities of the Board  
The company has attracted a strong and solid Board of 

Directors who review and approve key policies and make 
decisions in relation to:

•	 Corporate Governance
•	 Internal Controls
•	 Fiduciary Oversight
•	 Compliance with laws and regulations
•	 Strategy direction and operating plans
•	 Business development including major investments and 

divestures
•	 Appointment or removal of Directors
•	 Remuneration of Directors
•	 Risk Management
•	 Financial reporting and Audit
•	 Financing
•	 Corporate Social Responsibility
•	 Ethics
•	 Environment
•	 Succession planning for the Directors and Senior 

Executives

Responsibilities of the Chairman,  
Company Secretary and Directors 

The Chairman’s primary responsibilities are the effective 
operation of the Board and the dissemination of sufficient 

corporate governance
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information to support decisions. He is also responsible for 
ensuring that new Directors are inducted into tTech and 
receive the necessary training. The Company Secretary is 
responsible for ensuring that the Board’s procedures are 
effectively followed and supports the decision-making process 
and governance. The appointment of the Company Secretary 
is made by the Board and can only be removed by the Board. 
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary’s advice 
and services. 

Each Board member is expected to allot sufficient time 
to prepare for and attend meetings of the Board and its 
Committees. Regular attendance at Board and Committee 
meetings is required; failing an agreement a Director should 
not miss two consecutive regular Board meetings. The 
leadership of the Company is accessible to the Directors via 
the Executive Chairman.  

Directors Skills and Competencies 
The Board has a strong mix of expertise, experience and 

leadership which aids good corporate governance and 
business practices. 

The Board is led by Executive Chairman, Mr. Edward 
Alexander who brings a wealth of experience in IT, and a deep 
knowledge of the industry and  business environment in 
which the company operates.

Mr U. Philip Alexander is a Non-Executive Director with many 
years of operational experience as well as experience in Total 
Quality Management, Strategic Planning and Risk Management.

Ms. Joan-Marie Powell is a Non-Executive Director and 
has a proven track record in operational excellence, internal 
controls, human resource management, and leading the 
growth of organizations.  

Mr. Thomas Chin is a Non-Executive Director with diverse 
experience in Accounting & Finance, Acquisitions and 
Divestments in the technology sector in both Jamaica and 
Canada.

Mr. Gregory Henry was a Non-Executive Director with 
an insightful and results-driven mindset which improves 
key internal controls that support business objectives, risk 
management and IT security architecture. Mr. Henry was on 
leave of absence for a year, at the end of which he resigned 
from the Board of Directors of tTech on August 9, 2017 due to 
other commitments. 

Executive Directors are Mr. Edward Alexander, Chairman, 
Mr. Christopher Reckord, CEO, Mr. Norman Chen, Director 
of Technical Services  and Mr. Hugh Allen, Connectivity & 
Network Manager. All have significant experience in business, 
technology, marketing & sales, and operations in information 
technology companies.   

Board & Executive Compensation 
The Non-Executive Directors compensation reflects 

their contribution, commitment and time taken to improve 
the Board’s performance. It is also built on the premise 
of attracting and retaining Directors of high standards. 
This compensation is subject to annual reviews based on 

corporate governance

They provide a great service so that we can 

continue to focus on what we really need to focus 

on which is finding ways to grow revenue, reduce 

cost or improve compliance.  We need to do 

everything we can to protect our customers data 

and tTech helps us tremendously in doing that.

- Simon Roberts, Chief Information Officer, GraceKennedy Limited
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corporate governance

comparable conditions and evaluation of the effectiveness of 
the Board and its committees.  

Directors Training and Education 
The Board has placed emphasis on Director’s training and 

education and recognizes the importance of continuing this 
path. Some Directors have/are attended the following: 

•	 The Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) Corporate Governance 
Index training

•	 The Private Sector Organization of Jamaica Corporate 
Governance training 

•	 Internal training on the Board’s Role in Managing Cyber 
Security Risks    

Succession Planning 
A major responsibility of the Board is succession planning 

for all Senior Executives and Directors. This is done by 
identifying potential successors for each senior post and 
providing the necessary exposure for them to develop and 
increase their skills and knowledge.

Code of Conduct
The company’s code of conduct is governed primarily by 

our Vision, Mission and Credo. Our Credo guides our Directors, 
Officers and employees to act ethically and responsibly. The 
Credo below was developed by a cross-functional team in the 
company.

LEAVE IT TO US

“Yes I would recommend tTech because 

of their new age approach. They service us 

remotely and that’s what I like about them.
- Ursula Williams, Office Manager, Magna Motors

“We had a very good 

experience with the roll 

out of our new phone 

system…. They knew 

what they were doing!”

- Sheila Chin, Business Manager,  
Island Medical Specialists

tTech Image:  We will 
uphold the image of 
tTech through our 
conduct, appearance 
and speech.

Teamwork &  
Communication:  
Our work environ-
ment will foster team-
work and commu-

nication so that the 
needs of our internal 
and external custom-
ers are always met.

Ownership: We will 
own and immediate-
ly start working on 
resolving a customer’s 
problem. If not re-
solved, we will always 
provide timely up-

dates until resolved.

Empowerment:  
We are empowered 
to take initiative and 
make decisions to 
always deliver and 
exceed our customers’ 
expectations.

Personal Develop-
ment: We will take 
every opportunity 

to grow profession-
ally, financially and 
realize our maximum 
potential.

Confidentiality: We 
will protect the pri-
vacy and security of 
our clients, colleagues 
and the company’s 
confidential informa-
tion and assets.

Commend: 
We will always recog-
nize and encourage 
the efforts of team 
members. 

Corporate Social 
Responsibility: 
We will support the 
communities to 
which we belong.

CREDO
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Meetings 

1) Schedule of Meetings 
During each financial year, there is a minimum of 4 regular Board and 

Committee meetings. These meetings are scheduled on a quarterly basis. 
Two other meetings are scheduled each year to focus on the company’s 
long term strategy, operating plans and annual budget. Special Board or 
Committee meetings may also occur at times as required. 

2) Agenda Items for Board Meetings
The Chairman, CEO and Company Secretary establish the agenda for 

each Board meeting. Each Board member has the option to suggest items 
for inclusion on the agenda. Information is distributed electronically and 
or in writing to the Board before the Board meetings. 

3) Invited Attendees
Additionally, the Board will invite Senior Managers and the Mentor to 

join Board and Committee meetings who 
(a) can provide additional insight into items being discussed due to 

direct involvement, or 
(b) are managers that display attributes that the Executives believe 

should be given exposure to the Board as a part of their development.  

Annual General Meeting 
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) of Shareholders is one of the 

main instruments utilized for good corporate governance. It provides 
the avenue for shareholders to hold the company accountable, provides 
transparency through the presentation of the company’s audited 
accounts and gives the shareholders a voice to ask questions/raise issues. 
The AGM is also the forum for decisions; to consider and approve a 
dividend, appoint auditors and fix their remuneration and the election of 
Members of the Board.        

Shareholders Communication
The Annual Reports are available on the Company’s and the Jamaica 

Stock Exchange’s websites for download. The report is distributed to all 
shareholders, in digital form, by the Jamaica Central Securities Depository 
and is also available in hard copy at each Annual General Meeting.

Avenues for Shareholders Communication 
We encourage shareholders to share their concerns and suggestions 

with us, as we value their feedback and support. Communication can be 
done by email to:

- the Company Secretary at company.secretary@ttech.com.jm 
or 
- by writing directly to the Executive Chairman, Edward Alexander, 
   tTech Limited, 69 ½ Harbour Street, Kingston. 

corporate governance
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Management, 
Discussion & 
Analysis
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tTech is a provider of managed 
information technology services to 
organizations in Jamaica. These services 
include:

1. The management of core IT 
infrastructure such as servers and 
network devices.

2. Service or Help Desk support services 
for end users and the computers and 
mobile devices which they use.

3.	 The deployment and management 
of IT Security systems.

4.	 Cloud migration and support 
services.

These services are provided to our 
customers on an on-going basis. Some 
customers opt to take all of the services 
above while others may contract for a 
subset of these services.

In addition to our manged services, 
tTech also provides IT Consultancy services 
which include the provision of virtual CIO 
(vCIO) services, project management, 
disaster recovery planning, and assisting 
internal IT teams to improve the delivery 
of their services within their organizations.

tTech also provides voice (PBX) systems 
based on proven open-source technology. 
This involves the supply, installation 
and support of phone systems that 

integrate with the data networks typically 
supported through our managed services. 
By virtue of being based on open-source 
technology our voice solutions are very 
cost competitive.

tTech’s customers are based in Jamaica 
and the majority of the sites which we 
support are in Jamaica. However, our 
support services are delivered remotely 
over the Internet so we do also provide 
support for customer locations outside of 
Jamaica. Countries to which we provide 
support services include the USA, Canada, 
the UK, Trinidad, Guyana and Belize.

In 2017 we continued to develop our 
online marketing campaigns to generate 
qualified leads. We were also a platinum 
sponsor of the Jamaica Computer 
Society’s BizTech Forum and Showcase in 
October. At that conference we were able 
to showcase our services and those of 
our partners to a wide cross section of IT 
professionals in attendance.

We continued to strengthen our 
partnerships with Microsoft, the Info-Tech 
Research Group, Xorcom, and at the end 
of the 3rd quarter we signed a partnership 
agreement with Loris Technologies, 
a Canadian provider of cloud-based 
enterprise document management 
systems.

Management Discussion & Analysis
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3-Year Performance

tTech was a platinum sponsor of the Jamaica Computer Society’s BizTech Forum and Showcase in October 2017. 
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Financial Performance
In 2017 tTech continued to see 

growth in its portfolio of managed 
service customers. However, 
revenues from the sale of PBX 
systems were down as customers 
opted to defer projects that had 
been scheduled for 2017. Cloud 
based services and IT Security 
services did experience growth 
in 2017 but there was a decline 
in revenues from Consulting 
services.

Revenues

Revenues in 2017 were $217.2 
million down from $223.1 million 
in 2016. The decrease being 
largely due to the reduction 
in revenues from PBX systems. 
However, Monthly Recurring 
Revenue (MRR) from our managed 
service customers did grow 
in 2017 and this augurs well 
for the future as MRR provides 
predictable revenue streams.

Gross profit margin

Our gross profit margin 
increased marginally while 
operating and administrative 
expenses increased by 5.3% to 
$170.0 million. The increase in 
expenses was due to increases in 
a few areas, primarily in property 
rental and utilities, professional 

Summary Financial Performance 2017

  Income Statement				     		

      			   Restated

J$ ‘000	 2013	 2014	 2015	 2016	 2017

Revenue	  109,053 	  128,542 	  177,976 	  223,164 	  217,247 

Other Income	  4,173 	  3,946 	  6,083 	  9,288 	 -439 

Operating Expense (excl. Investment Financing Cost)	 -89,640 	 -110,165 	 -153,357 	 -194,231 	 -198,159 

Normalized Net profit before Tax	 23,586 	  22,323 	  30,702 	  38,221 	  18,649 

Investment Financing Cost	  -   	 -1,817 			 

Net Profit before Tax	 23,586 	  20,506 	  30,702 	  38,221 	  18,649 

Taxation	 -5,857 	 -3,743 	 -5,831 	  1,120 	  -   

Net Profit being Total Comprehensive Income	 17,729 	  16,763 	  24,871 	  39,341 	  18,649

 

  Balance Sheet					   

Non-Current Assets	  9,814 	  13,752 	  15,610 	  15,642 	  38,152 

Current Assets	  61,134 	  80,183 	  156,803 	  180,406 	  170,615  

Total Assets	  70,948 	  93,935 	  172,413 	  196,048 	  208,767  

Current Liabilities	  27,592 	  27,685 	  42,690 	  32,079 	  30,389  

Non-Current Liabilities	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   	  -   

Total Liabilities	  27,592 	  27,685 	  42,690 	  32,079 	  30,389  

Net Assets	  43,356 	  66,250 	  129,723 	  163,969 	  178,378  

  Other Information

Fixed Assets	  3,568 	  12,443 	  14,037 	  13,615 	  12,151  

Working capital	  33,542 	  52,498 	  114,113 	  148,327 	  140,226  

Accounts Receivables	  10,980 	  16,964 	  26,436 	  47,151 	  29,801  

Operating expenses  

(less Technical Fees & Investing Finance Cost)	  74,916 	  94,829 	  125,523 	  161,486 	  170,078 

Technical Fees	  14,724 	  15,115 	  27,834 	  32,745 	  28,081 

1364 288 430 340Devices
Managed

Desktops Servers Networks MS Patches
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services, marketing, and insurance. During 
the year we continued making further 
investments in our remote monitoring 
and management (RMM) systems, and 
our new professional services automation 
(PSA) platform. These investments are 
being made to support the structure to 
accommodate future growth.

Net Profit

Net Profit for the year was $18.6 
million, down from $39.3 million in 2016. 
The reduction in profits resulting from the 
lower revenues and increase in expenses 
for the reasons stated above.

Improvement in Asset Position
During the year we improved our net 

asset base by 8.79% to $178.4 million. 
This resulted from a decrease in accounts 
receivable and accounts payable along 
with an increase in long term investments. 
We also saw improvements in our cash 
resources which increased 26.6% to $30.5 
million at year end.

The Company has no long-term 
debt. The low leverage reflects the 
Company’s business model of providing 
services which obviate many costly fixed 
expenditures or tying up working capital 
in inventories.

Our accumulated surplus grew 12.8% 
to $126.6 million at year end resulting in 
shareholders equity increasing 8.8% to 
$178.3 million compared to $163.9 million 
a year earlier.

Outlook
We are excited and confident about 

the financial future of tTech. The company 
will benefit from the continued increase 
in the use of information technology 
in all aspects of our society, and the 
investments in RMM and PSA tools are 
positioning us to accommodate further 
growth efficiently. The increase in MRR 
from our managed services is positive 
as these recurring revenue streams form 
the foundation of our positive cash flows, 
while creating the opportunity to provide 

other services to customers.
In 2018, we expect growth from our 

existing services and contributions from 
new products and services including 
the document management system 
from Loris. We will also be exploring 
opportunities for new partnerships in 
2018, as well as the possibility of revenues 
from markets outside of Jamaica.

Christopher Reckord presenting at the Jamaica Computer Society’s BizTech Forum and Showcase in October 2017. 



25tTech Limited 2017 Annual Report

Corporate Social Responsibility 

Our Team
The healthy snack programme includes 

the consumption of fruits for overall 
health, vitality and wellness. This is a 
weekly provision and the team is happy 
with this as an option. An after-work 
exercise programme took shape in 2017, it 
involves workouts, running and basketball. 

We support our team in initiatives that 
improves the societal conditions of our 
country, this is achieved by partnering with 
them on various charity activities they are 
involved in. This year, we implemented a 
volunteerism day where team members are 
allowed a day off for volunteer activities. We 
encourage our team members to assist in 
the areas of educational tutoring and the 
mentoring of youths.

Youth Development 
Our focus was also centred on 

investments in youth development 
through various sponsorship partnerships; 
notably with the University of Technology, 
School of Computing and the Jamaica 
College Robotics team.  

University of Technology,  
School of Computing 

The University of Technology is on 
an Information Technology (IT) Research 
mission and we are in full support of 
this initiative. We sponsored some of the 
students and hosted them at our offices 
where they presented their brilliant 
research projects. 

JC Robotics Team 

tTech has supported this great initiative 
of the development of robots/robotics by 
sponsoring the Jamaica College Robotics 
team participation in international 
competitions throughout the years. The 

Investing in our team and the youth
The core foundation of our company is our team.  Team 

welfare and development although a continuing commitment 
for the company took precedence in 2017.  A balanced 
and healthy team is vital, and we have instituted a health 
and welfare programme through the introduction of a 

healthy snack programme, exercise programme and team 
participation in various 5K’s throughout the year.  Youth 

development has been an ongoing activity for us and this year 
we have renewed our focus and commitment to the youths. 

We continue to partner with our customers and seek to 
strengthen the community in which we operate.  
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JC Robotics team has won several competitions and placed brand 
Jamaica on the international map. Their most recent wins this 
year was the First Tech Challenge Robotics competition held on 
February 18th and 25th in New York and the East Super-Regional 
Robotics Championship held in Scranton, Pennsylvania.  

Our Customers 
Partnering with our customers on initiatives that drive 

social change is one of our mandates. Or customers charitable 
enterprises take the form of hosting various 5K runs, this includes 
Grace Kennedy Limited and the Insurance Company of the West 
Indies (ICWI) which we continuously support. The funds raised 
from these charity runs are donated to the less fortunate and we 
pledge our continued support.    

Our Communities  
Community renewal and building are the foundations of the 

environment in which we operate. Our team continues to provide 
technical support to the various Grace and Staff Homework 
centres located in Downtown Kingston.

Additionally, we support the going green campaign by 
greening our offices to reduce the emissions from computer 
equipment. 

The Sickle Cell Foundation of Jamaica, the Special Olympics 
Association and the Association of Surgeons in Jamaica are 
beneficiaries of our community involvement. 

If we are to achieve long term sustainability, then we must lead 
by example and create a philosophy of good corporate citizenry; 
which is ingrained in our values. Our commitment remains strong 
to our team, youth development, customers and community. We 
work hard and in harmony to improve on our efforts each year. 

Jamaica College Robotics Team visits tTech.
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1

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of tTech Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of tTech Limited (the Company), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, the statements of comprehensive
income,  changes  in  equity  and  cash  flows  for  the  year  then  ended,  and  notes,  comprising
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2017 and of its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
the Jamaican Companies Act.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company
in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

8 Olivier Road
Kingston 8
Jamaica, W.I.

 Tel: +1 876 925 2501
Fax: +1 876 755 0413
ey.com

Chartered Accountants

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Partners: Allison Peart, Linval Freeman, Winston Robinson, Anura Jayatillake, Kayann Sudlow
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2

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To The Members of tTech Limited (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit
opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Allowance for credit losses

As  described  in  Note  2  (d) Use of
estimates and judgements under section
Allowance for impairment losses on
receivables in the financial statements, in
determining amounts recorded for
impairment losses in the financial
statements, management makes
judgments regarding indicators of
impairment, that is, whether there are
indicators  that  suggest  there  may  be  a
measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows from receivables, for
example, default and adverse economic
conditions.   Management  also  makes
estimates  of  the  likely  future  cash  flows
from impaired receivables as well  as  the
timing of such cash flows.  Historical loss
experience is applied where indicators of
impairment are not observable on
individually significant receivables with
similar characteristics.

Assessing the valuation of trade receivables
requires judgment  and  we  have  reviewed  and
challenged the assumptions used to determine the
trade receivables impairment provision.

We tested aged balances where no provision was
recognised  to  determine  if  the  balances  were
impaired. This included verifying if payments had
been received since the year-end, reviewing
historical payment patterns and any
correspondence with customers on expected
settlement dates.

We selected a sample of trade receivable balances
where  a  provision  for  impairment  of  trade
receivables was recognised and understood the
rationale behind management's judgement. In
order to evaluate the appropriateness of these
judgements we verified whether balances were
overdue, the customer's historical payment
patterns and whether any post year-end payments
had been received up to the date of completing our
audit procedures.

In assessing the appropriateness of the overall
provision for impairment we considered the
consistency of management's application of policy
for recognising provisions with the prior year.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To The Members of tTech Limited (Continued)

Other information included in the Annual Report

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the
information included in the Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2017 but does not
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit  of the financial  statements, our responsibility is  to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRS and the Jamaican Companies Act, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial  statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole  are  free  from  material  misstatement,  whether  due  to  fraud  or  error,  and  to  issue  an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material  if,  individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To The Members of tTech Limited (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

As  part  of  an  audit  in  accordance  with  ISAs,  we  exercise  professional  judgment  and  maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures  that  are  appropriate  in  the  circumstances,  but  not  for  the  purpose  of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate  the  appropriateness  of  accounting  policies  used  and  the  reasonableness  of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are  required  to  draw  attention  in  our  auditor’s  report  to  the  related  disclosures  in  the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that presents a true and fair view.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To The Members of tTech Limited (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

Report on additional requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and
belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.  In our opinion, proper accounting records
have been maintained, so far as appears from our examination of those records, and the financial
statements,  which  are  in  agreement  therewith,  give  the  information  required  by  the  Jamaican
Companies Act, in the manner required.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Winston
Robinson.

Ernst & Young
Kingston, Jamaica

22 February 2018

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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tTECH LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollar unless otherwise indicated)

Notes 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Current assets
Cash resources 3 30,579 24,153
Government securities purchased under resale agreements 4 94,910    93,908
Accounts receivable 5 29,801     47,151
Other receivables 6 15,325   15,194

170,615 180,406

Current liabilities
Accounts payable 7 30,389 32,079

Net current assets 140,226 148,327

Non-current assets
Investments  10 26,001 2,027
Property, plant and equipment  11 12,151 13,615

38,152 15,642

Total net assets 178,378 163,969

Shareholders' equity
Share capital  12 51,727 51,727
Unappropriated profit 126,651 112,242

178,378 163,969

178,378 163,969

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on February 22,
2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

 ................................................... ……...................................................
   Edward Alexander - Director Thomas Chin - Director
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tTECH LIMITED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollar unless otherwise indicated)

 Notes 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Revenues 13 217,247 223,164

Cost of Sales 15 (28,081) (32,745)

Gross profit 189,166 190,419

Other income, gains and losses 14 (439) 9,288

Administrative expenses  15 (149,874) (143,002)

Other operating expenses 15 (20,204) (18,484)

Profit before taxation 17 18,649 38,221

Taxation 8 - 1,120

NET PROFIT BEING TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
   INCOME FOR THE YEAR 18,649 39,341

Net profit attributable to owners 18,649 39,341

Earnings per share 20 $0.18 $0.37

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Financial Statements

Statement of COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
As at 31 December 2017
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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tTECH LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollar unless otherwise indicated)

2017 2016
Notes $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year 18,649 39,341
Adjustments for:

Bad debts provision 5 (48) 590
Depreciation 11 4,027 4,034
Loss on disposal of equipment 14 60 -
Taxation 8 - (1,120)
Contingency provision write off during the year - (1,500)
Interest income 14 (2,192) (1,339)
Dividend income 14 (84) (79)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain) 14 4,348 (5,629)
Appreciation in fair value of equity investments 14 (1,133) (378)

Operating cash flows before movements in working
capital 23,627 33,920

Accounts receivable 17,398 (21,305)
Other receivables (11) 47,910
Accounts payable (1,723) (4,549)

39,291 55,976
Tax paid - (4,672)

Cash provided by operating activities 39,291 51,304

Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment 11 (2,623) (3,612)
Government securities purchased under resale

agreements (12,378) (13,604)
Investments (22,841) (76)
Dividend received 84 79
Interest received 2,072 1,328

Cash used in investing activities (35,686) (15,885)

Cash flows from financing activity
Dividends paid (4,207) (3,865)

Cash used in financing activities (4,207) (3,865)

Decrease/Increase in cash and cash equivalents (602) 31,554
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents (4,348) 5,629
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 104,457 67,274

Net cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 99,507 104,457

Comprised of:
Cash and bank balances 3 30,579 24,153
Short term investments 4 68,928 80,304

 Net cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 99,507 104,457

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Statement of CASH FLOWS
As at 31 December 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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tTECH LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollar unless otherwise indicated)
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1. IDENTIFICATION

tTech Limited (the "Company") is a limited liability company, which was incorporated under the Jamaican
Companies Act and is domiciled in Jamaica with registered office located at 69½ Harbour Street,
Kingston, Jamaica.

The principal activity of the Company is that of information technology service providers and consultants.

The Company increased the number of the authorized ordinary shares (shares) from 1,000 to
106,000,000 on November 11th, 2015 and on that date the 274 shares, then in issue, were split to
80,348,000 shares. The Company made an Initial Public Offering (IPO) under which 25,652,000
additional shares were issued on December 28, 2015.

On January 7, 2016, the Company's ordinary shares were listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica
Stock Exchange.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance:

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance and comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board,
and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act (“the Act”).

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards:

Standards and interpretations adopted during the year

The Company applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The Company has not early adopted any other
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

The nature and the effect of these changes are disclosed below. Although these new standards and
amendments applied for the first time in 2017, they did not have a material impact on the financial
statements of the Company. The nature and the impact of each new standard or amendment are
described below:

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7
The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and
require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-
cash changes. On initial application of the amendment, entities are not required to provide
comparative information for preceding periods. These amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with early application permitted. Application of the
amendments had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.

IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of
taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary
difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine
future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the recovery
of some assets for more than their carrying amount.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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tTECH LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollar unless otherwise indicated)
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

Standards and interpretations adopted during the year (continued)

IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (continued)
Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application of the
amendments, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be
recognised in the opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as appropriate),
without allocating the change between opening retained earnings and other components of equity.

Entities applying this relief must disclose that fact. These amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early application permitted. If an entity applies
the amendments for an earlier period, it must disclose that fact. These amendments did not have
any impact on the Company’s financial statements.

IFRS Practice Statement 2: Making Materiality Judgements
Companies are permitted to apply the guidance in the Practice Statement (PS) to financial
statements prepared any time after 14 September 2017.

The PS contains non-mandatory guidance to help entities making materiality judgements when
preparing general purpose IFRS financial statements. The PS may also help users of financial
statements to understand how an entity makes materiality judgements in preparing such financial
statements.

The PS comprises guidance in three main areas:
• General characteristics of materiality,
• A four-step process that may be applied in making materiality judgements when preparing financial
statements. This process describes how an entity could assess whether information is material for
the purposes of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure.
• How to make materiality judgements in specific circumstances, namely, prior period information,
errors and covenants and in the context of interim reporting. Furthermore, the PS discusses the
interaction between the materiality judgements an entity is required to make and local laws and
regulations.

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle (issued in December 2016)

These improvements include:

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Clarification of the scope of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12

• The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, other than those in
paragraphs B10–B16, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate (or
a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an associate) that is classified (or included in a disposal
group that is classified) as held for sale.

• The amendments are effective from 1 January 2017 and must be applied retrospectively.

The application of the amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Company.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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tTECH LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollar unless otherwise indicated)
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

New revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective (continued)

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective are disclosed below. The
Company intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the
effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction; the classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for
withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a
share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled.

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but
retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
application permitted. The amendment is not applicable as the Company does not have share-
based payments.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9
brings together all three aspects of the accounting for the financial instruments project: classification
and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Except for hedge accounting,
retrospective application is required, but providing comparative information is not compulsory. For
hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited
exceptions.

The Company plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date. During 2017, the
Company performed an impact assessment of IFRS 9.
This assessment was based on currently available information and may be subject to changes
arising from further reasonable and supportable information being made available to the Company
in 2018 when the Company will adopt IFRS 9. Overall, the Company expects no significant impact
on its statement of financial position and equity except for the effect of applying the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9. The Company is currently assessing the impact on the financial statements.

(a)  Classification and measurement
The Company does not expect a significant impact on its statement of financial position or equity
on applying the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9. It expects to continue
measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at fair value.

Other loans and receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give
rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2017

(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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tTECH LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollar unless otherwise indicated)
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

New revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
(b)  Impairment

IFRS 9 requires the Company to record expected credit losses on its debt securities, either on
a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Company expects to apply the simplified approach and record
the life time expected credit losses on trace receivables.

(c)  Hedge accounting
This amendment is not applicable as the Company does not apply hedge accounting.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
The amendments address concerns arising from implementing the new financial instruments
Standard, IFRS 9, before implementing the new insurance contracts standard that the Board has
developed to replace IFRS 4 (See IFRS 17 below). The amendments introduce two options for
entities issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 and an overlay
approach. These amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial statements of
the Company.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer.

The new revenue standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS.
Either a full retrospective application or a modified retrospective application is required for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Company plans to
adopt the new standard on the required effective date using the full retrospective method. The
Company is currently performing a preliminary assessment of IFRS 15, which is subject to changes
arising from a more detailed ongoing analysis. Furthermore, the Company is considering the
clarifications issued by the IASB in April 2016 and will monitor any further developments. The
Company is in the business of providing information technology and consultancy services on
separate identified contracts with customers and together as a bundled package of services.

Rendering of services
The Company provides technology and consultancy services. These services are sold either on
their own in contracts with the customers or bundled together with the sale of equipment to a
customer. Currently, the Company accounts for the equipment and service as separate deliverables
of bundled sales and allocates consideration between these deliverables using the relative fair value
approach. The Company recognises service revenue by reference to the stage of completion. Under
IFRS 15, allocation will be made based on relative stand-alone selling prices. Hence, the allocation
of the consideration and, consequently, the timing of the amount of revenue recognised in relation
to these sales would be affected.

The Company concluded that the services are satisfied over time given that the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company. Consequently, under
IFRS 15 the Company would continue to recognise revenue for these service contracts/service
components of bundled contracts over time rather than at a point of time.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2017
(Expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

New revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective
(continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)
Advances received from customers
Generally, the Company receives only short-term advances from its customers. They are presented
as part of Trade and other payables. However, from time to time, the Company may receive long-
term advances from customers.

Under the current accounting policy, the Company presents such advances as deferred revenue
under the non- current liabilities heading in the statement of financial position. No interest was
accrued on the long-term advances received under the current accounting policy. Under IFRS 15,
the Company must determine whether there is a significant financing component in its contracts.

Presentation and disclosure requirements
The presentation and disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are more detailed than under current
IFRS. The presentation requirements represent a significant change from current practice and
significantly increases the volume of disclosures required in the Company’s financial statements.
Many of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are new and the Company has assessed that the
impact of some of them will be significant. In particular, the Company expects that the notes to the
financial statements will be expanded because of the disclosure of significant judgements made:
when determining the transaction price of those contracts that include variable consideration, how
the transaction price has been allocated to the performance obligations, and the assumptions made
to estimate the stand-alone selling prices of each performance obligation. In addition, as required
by IFRS 15, the Company will disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts with customers into
categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
are affected by economic factors.

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to
account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance
leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-
value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12
months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make
lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-
use asset.

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

New revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and
distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases.

IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17.
IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is
permitted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using
either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions
permit certain reliefs.

The Company will perform a detailed assessment of the impact of the standard in 2018.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new
accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation
and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was
issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance
and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees
and financial instruments with discretionary participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply.
The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is
more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely
based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive
model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the
general model, supplemented by:

• A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)

• A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts.
IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with comparative
figures required. Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15
on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Company.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control
of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify
that the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, as
defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint venture, is recognised in full. Any
gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that do not constitute a business,
however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint
venture. The IASB has deferred the effective date of these amendments indefinitely, but an entity
that early adopts the amendments must apply them prospectively. This amendment is not expected
to have an impact on the Company.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

New revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective (continued)

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle (issued in December 2016)
These improvements include:

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Deletion of short-term
exemptions for first-time adopters Short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3–E7 of IFRS 1 were
deleted because they have now served their intended purpose. The amendment is effective from 1
January 2018. This amendment is not applicable to the Company.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Clarification that measuring investees at fair
value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice

The amendments clarify that:
• An entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may elect, at initial
recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates and
joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss.
• If an entity, that is not itself an investment entity, has an interest in an associate or joint venture
that is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair
value measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment
entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for
each investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the date on which: (a) the investment
entity associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (b) the associate or joint venture becomes an
investment entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent.
The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2018, with
earlier application permitted. If an entity applies those amendments for an earlier period, it must
disclose that fact. These amendments are not applicable to the Company.

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 cycle (issued in December 2017)
Following is a summary of the amendments from the 2015-2017 annual improvements cycle:  FRS
3 Business Combinations Previously held Interests in a joint operation
•  The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation,

it applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, including remeasuring
previously held interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint operation at fair value.

•  In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its entire previously held interest in the joint operation.
•  An entity applies those amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition date is

on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Earlier application is permitted.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements Previously held Interests in a joint operation
•  A party that participates in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain joint

control of the joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business as
defined in IFRS 3. The amendments clarify that the previously held interests in that joint operation
are not remeasured.

•  An entity applies those amendments to transactions in which it obtains joint control on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Earlier
application is permitted.
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These amendments are not applicable to the Company.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 cycle (issued in December 2017) (continued)
IAS 12 Income Taxes Income tax consequences of payments on financial instruments classified as
equity.
•  The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are linked more directly

to past transactions or events that generated distributable profits than to distributions to owners.
Therefore, an entity recognises the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other
comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally recognised those past
transactions or events.

•  An entity applies those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019. Earlier application is permitted. When an entity first applies those amendments, it applies
them to the income tax consequences of dividends recognized on or after the beginning of the
earliest comparative period. This amendments are not applicable to the Company.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
•  The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally

made to develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare
that asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

•  An entity applies those amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments.

•  An entity applies those amendments for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019. Earlier application is permitted.

These amendment are not applicable to the Company.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
The Interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on
which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must
determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. Entities may
apply the amendments on a fully retrospective basis. Alternatively, an entity may apply the
Interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in its scope that are initially
recognised on or after:

(i) The beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation or,
(ii) The beginning of a prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial
statements of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation.
The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early
application of interpretation is permitted and must be disclosed. However, since the Company’s
current practice is in line with the Interpretation, the Company does not expect any effect on its
financial statements.

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment
The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12 and does not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

New revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective (continued)

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment (continued)
The Interpretation specifically addresses the following:
•  Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately
•  The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities
•  How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits

and tax rates
•  How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

An entity must determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together
with one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts the resolution of
the uncertainty should be followed. The interpretation is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but certain transition reliefs are available. This is not
applicable to the Company due to a tax remission currently in place due to its listing on the Junior
Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

Amendments to IAS 40- Transfers of Investment Property
The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under
construction or development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for
the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. Entities should apply the
amendments prospectively to changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments.

An entity should reassess the classification of property held at that date and, if applicable, reclassify
property to reflect the conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective application in accordance with
IAS 8 is only permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early application of the amendments is permitted and must
be disclosed. These amendments are not applicable to the Company.

Amendments to IFRS 9- Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held
within the appropriate business model for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that
a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of the event or circumstance that causes the
early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable
compensation for the early termination of the contract. The basis for conclusions to the amendments
clarified that the early termination can result from a contractual term or from an event outside the
control of the parties to the contract, such as a change in law or regulation leading to the early
termination of the contract.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and are
intended to apply where the prepayment amount approximates to unpaid amounts of principal and
interest plus or minus an amount that reflects the change in a benchmark interest rate. This implies
that prepayments at current fair value or at an amount that includes the fair value of the cost to
terminate an associated hedging instrument, will normally satisfy the SPPI criterion only if other
elements of the change in fair value, such as the effects of credit risk or liquidity, are small. Most
likely, the costs to terminate a ‘plain vanilla’ interest rate swap that is collateralised, so as to minimise
the credit risks for the parties to the swap, will meet this requirement. The Company does not expect
any effect on its financial statements.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards: (Continued)

New revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 28 - Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures
The amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests
in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form
part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is
relevant because it implies that the expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 applies to such long-term
interests.

The Board also clarified that, in applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any losses of
the associate or joint venture, or any impairment losses on the net investment, recognised as
adjustments to the net investment in the associate or joint venture that arise from applying IAS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. To illustrate how entities apply the requirements in
IAS 28 and IFRS 9 with respect to long-term interests, the Board also published an illustrative
example when it issued the amendments. Entities must apply the amendments retrospectively, with
certain exceptions. Early application of the amendments is permitted and must be disclosed. The
amendments will eliminate ambiguity in the wording of the standard. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. This amendment is not applicable to the
Company.

(c) Basis of preparation:

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
revaluation of financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss that are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values as explained in the accounting policy at Note 2(f). Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.  The financial
statements are presented Jamaican dollars ($), which is the functional currency of the Company.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements:

The preparation of the financial statements to conform with IFRS, requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, contingent
assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then
ended.  Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current
and future years.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effect on the
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next financial
year are discussed below:

(i) Allowance for impairment losses on receivables:

In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses on receivables in the financial
statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of impairment, that is,
whether there are indicators that suggest there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows from receivables, for example, default and adverse economic conditions.
Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future cash flows from impaired
receivables as well as timing of such cash flows.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued):

(i) Allowance for impairment losses on receivables (continued):

Historical loss experience is applied where indicators of impairment are not observable on
individual significant receivables with similar characteristics, such as credit risks.

At year end accounts receivable totaled $30.34 million (2016: $47.74 million) for which an
impairment provision of $0.54 million (2016: $0.59 million) (Note 5) was recognised.

(ii) Fair value of financial instruments:

As described in Note 19(b), management uses its judgment in selecting appropriate valuation
techniques to determine fair values of financial assets. Valuation techniques commonly used by
market practitioners supported by appropriate assumptions are applied by the Company. The
financial assets of the Company at the end of the reporting period stated at fair value determined
in this manner amounted to $3.16 million (2016: $2.03 million) (Note 10).

Had the fair value of these securities been 15% (2016: 10%) higher or lower the profit or loss
for the Company would increase/decrease by $0.47 million (2016: $0.20 million).

(e) Current vs. non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on
current/non-current classification.  An asset is current when it is:

• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for

at least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months

after the reporting period.

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

(f) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

•    In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
•    In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of
the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

(g) Financial instruments

Financial instruments include transactions that give rise to both financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Company’s statement of financial position
when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Financial assets
and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Transactions costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities (except for financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss where such costs are recognised
immediately in profit or loss), as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The fair values of financial instruments are discussed in Note 9 (b). Listed below are the Company’s
financial assets and liabilities and the specific accounting policies relating to each:
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of the
instrument is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the instrument within the timeframe
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

The Company’s financial assets are classified as financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL)’ and ‘loans and receivables’ with the classification being based on the nature and purpose
of the financial asset and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading
or it is designated as at FVTPL.  A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the

Company manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

•  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the company’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis: or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39
permits the entire combined contract (asset and liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the 'other
income', if any. Fair value is based on realisable prices derived by valuation techniques that
are quoted by the financial institution at the end of the reporting period.

The Company’s portfolio of financial assets FVTPL is comprised of investments in quoted
shares.

The Company’s portfolio of loans and receivables comprises accounts receivable, other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and short term investments.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(g) Financial instruments: (Continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(ii) Loans and receivables (continued)

These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and are not
quoted in an active market.  Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less any impairment.  Interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would
be immaterial.

 (iii) Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that have occurred after initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future
cash flows of the asset have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
- breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial

difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as accounts receivables, assets that are
assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective
basis.  Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables includes the Company’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the average credit period of 10 days, as well as observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar financial asset.  Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account.  Recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to income.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(g) Financial instruments: (Continued)

Financial assets (continued)

 (iii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial assets at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

(iv) Derecognition of financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the company continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the company retains an
option to repurchase part of a transferred asset or retains a residual interest that does not result in
the retention of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the company retains control),
the Company allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it
continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the part it no longer recognises on the
basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between
the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the
consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated
to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.  A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated
between the part that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the
basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified according to the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company
after deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(g) Financial instruments: (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities
These are classified as “other financial liabilities”.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs (where applicable).
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis except for short-term liabilities when the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums and
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Company’s financial liabilities comprise accounts payable balances.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Company derecognises financial liabilities when the Company’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

(h) Government securities purchased under resale agreements:

Securities purchased under resale agreements (“reverse repos”) are short-term transactions
whereby an entity buys securities and simultaneously agrees to resell the securities on a specified
date and at a specific price.  Title to the security is not actually transferred unless the counter-party
fails to comply with the terms of the contract.

Reverse repos are accounted for as short-term collateralized lending, classified as loans   and
receivables and measured at amortised cost.

The difference between the sale and repurchase considerations is recognised on an accrual basis
over basis over the period of the transaction and is included in interest income.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and highly liquid financial assets
with original maturities of less than 90 days.

(j) Provisions:

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. If the
effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the obligation.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(k) Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the supply of services, or for administrative purposes,
are stated in the statement of financial position at cost, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less residual
values, over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

(l) Impairment of non-current assets:

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset maybe be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

          Where an impairment loss subsequent reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generated unit) in prior years.  A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(m) Related party transactions and balances:

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements
(referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”, that is, the Company).

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Company if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(ii) has significant influence over the Company; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the company or of a parent of the

Company.
(B) An entity is related to the company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the

company or an entity related to the Company.
(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (A).
(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the

key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged.

(n) Revenue recognition:

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes.

(o) Segment reporting:

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses; whose operating results are regularly reviewed
by the entity’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and for which discrete financial information
is available. Based on the information presented to and reviewed by the CODM, the operations of
the Company are considered as one operating segment.

    (p) Foreign currencies:

The financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates (its functional currency).  In preparing the financial
statements of the Company, transactions in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency,
the Jamaican dollar, are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are re-
translated at the rates prevailing at that date.
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2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

    (p) Foreign currencies (continued):

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences on monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

(q) Finance costs:

Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings as well as any discount arising from
applying the time value of money to current obligations calculated using the effective interest rate
(EIR) method. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of
comprehensive income.

3.  CASH RESOURCES

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Current accounts 4,137 1,194
Saving accounts (a) 26,422 22,944
Cash 20 15

30,579 24,153

(a) These include foreign currency bank accounts of US$180,000 (2016: US$110,000). As
at 31 December 2017, interest rates on foreign currency bank accounts range from 0.01%
- 0.15% (2016: 0.07% - 0.10%).

4. GOVERNMENT SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER RESALE AGREEMENTS

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Reverse repurchase agreements – classified as
cash and cash equivalents 68,928 80,304

Reverse repurchase agreements – other 25,982 13,604
94,910 93,908

Included in the government securities purchased under resale agreements are foreign currency
repurchase agreements of US$0.62 million (2016: US$0.60 million). As at 31 December 2017, the
maturity dates on reverse repurchase agreements range from 27 days to 91 days (2016: 30 days to 180
days) and interest rates range from 0.62% - 4.25% (2016: 0.50% - 4.00).
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5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

0 - 30 days 24,781 41,355
31- 60 days 811 1,729

61 - 90 days 203 928
90 - 180 days 1,051 980

180 - 365 days 1,262 779
Over 365 days 2,235 1,970

30,343 47,741
Less provision for bad debts (542) (590)

29,801 47,151

The average credit period on services is 10 days. No interest is charged on accounts receivable. The
Company provides for receivable balances over 90 days (except where these amounts are assessed
as recoverable by management) because historical experience is such that receivables that are past
due beyond 90 days are generally recoverable.

Included in receivables however, are debtors with the carrying amount of $4.00 million (2016: $3.14
million), which are past due at the reporting date for which the Company has not provided against, as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered
recoverable. Management believes that the non-past due unimpaired receivables are collectable in full.

(i) Movement in provision for doubtful debts:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 590 -
Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised on accounts

receivable (48) 590

Balance at end of year 542 590

(ii) Aging of impaired accounts receivable
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

90+ days 542 590

(iii)      Ageing of receivables that are past due but not impaired:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

 90 -180 days 1,051 940
 180-365 days 1,262 623
 Over 1 year 1,693 1,576

4,006 3,139
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6. OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Withholding tax 1,147 628
Prepayments 4,783 3,627
Procurement (a) 5,170 7,079
Other 4,225 3,860

15,325 15,194

a) Procurement represents amounts recoverable from customers for purchases of
equipment made on their behalf.

7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Trade payables 1,456 2,453
Statutory liabilities 2,343 2,547
Accrued expenses 15,695 18,135
GCT payable 2,414 3,067
Others 8,481 5,877

30,389 32,079

8. TAXATION

The charge for the year represents:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Taxation charge components:
Current tax - -
Deferred tax (Note 9) - (1,120)

- (1,120)
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8. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The charge for the year is reconciled to the profit as per the statement of comprehensive income as
follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Profit before tax 18,649 38,221

Computed "expected" tax charge @ 25% 4,662 9,555

Difference between profit for financial statements
and tax reporting purposes on: -
Expenses not deducted for tax purposes 437 203
Relief given under Junior Stock Exchange Regulation (5,099) (10,878)

- (1,120)

The Company was listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange in January 2016 and
under the Income Tax Act (Jamaica Stock Exchange Junior Market) Remission Notice, 2010, 100% of
income taxes will be remitted by the Minister of Finance during the first five years of listing on Junior
Market (Phase one) of the Jamaica Stock Exchange and 50% of income taxes will be remitted by the
Minister of Finance during the second five years of listing on the Junior Market (Phase two) of the
Jamaica Stock Exchange.

9. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

As at 31 December 2017, no deferred income tax was calculated on temporary difference pursuant to
the Company listing on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange. (Note 8)

Capital
allowance in

excess of
depreciation

$’000

At January 1, 2016 1,120
Charged to income for the year (1,120)

At December 31, 2016 -
Credited to income for the year -

At December 31, 2017 -

10. INVESTMENTS
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Certificate of deposits maturing July 2022:

USD instrument with interest of 4.25% (US$0.101 million) 12,566 -
JMD instrument with interest of 5.68% 10,275 -

Quoted equity securities 3,160     2,027
26,001 2,027
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Computer
Equipment

 Furniture &
Equipment  Total

$’000 $’000 $’000
At cost:

January 1, 2016 12,955 9,972 22,927
Additions 2,782 830 3,612

December 31, 2016 15,737 10,802 26,539
Additions
Disposal

2,518
(114)

105
-

2,623
(114)

December 31, 2017 18,141 10,907 29,048

Depreciation:
January 1, 2016 7,377 1,513 8,890

Charge for the year 2,694 1,340 4,034
December 31, 2016 10,071 2,853 12,924

Charge for the year
Disposal

2,765
(54)

1,262
-

4,027
 (54)

December 31, 2017 12,782 4,115 16,897

Net book values:
December 31, 2017 5,359 6,792 12,151

December 31, 2016 5,666 7,949 13,615

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Furniture and equipment 10%
Computer equipment                                                 33⅓%
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12. SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Authorized
106,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value 106,000 106,000

Issued and fully paid:
Share capital at beginning of year
106,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value 51,727 51,727

13. OPERATIONAL REVENUES

a) This represents fees for technical services rendered less General Consumption Taxes.

b) The following are entity-wide disclosures:

(i) Revenue sources (Note 13 (a)).

 (ii) Geographical areas

 There are no geographical segments as all revenues are attributed to the Company’s country
of domicile.

 (iii) Major customers

      Revenues from transactions with two customers, which amount to $111.95 million (2016:
$124.08 million) and $24.24 million (2016: $28.87 million), respectively, were greater than 10
per cent of the Company’s revenues.

14. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES
2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Interest income 2,192 1,339
Commission 198 338
Contingency - 1,500
Dividend income 84 79
Loss on disposal of equipment (60) -
Appreciation in value of investments 1,133 378
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (4,348) 5,629
Other 362 25

(439) 9,288
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15. EXPENSE BY NATURE

Total direct, administrative & other operating expenses:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Technical fees, services and products 28,081 32,745
Advertising and promotion 8,142 7,106
Professional services 5,083 2,533
Property rental and utilities 11,169 9,534
Staff costs (Note 18) 112,246 112,328
Directors’ fees 1,365 1,203
Depreciation 4,027 4,034
Insurance 4,390 3,167
Training and subscription 6,732 7,773
Computer and communications 3,876 2,519
Subsistence and staff expenses 3,175 3,316
Corporate expenses 2,973 1,202
Repairs and maintenance 2,491 2,458
Other 4,409 4,313

198,159 194,231

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year the Company had transactions with related parties in the normal course of business.
Related party transactions and balances are detailed below.

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

(a) Related party transactions:

Directors’ emoluments 27,185 26,317
Directors’ fees 1,365 1,203

28,550 27,520

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, there are no related party receivable or payable balances.

17. DISCLOSURE OF EXPENSES

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Profit before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting):
Directors' emoluments (Included in staff costs) 27,185 26,317
Directors' fees 1,365 1,203
Depreciation 4,027 4,034
Auditor’s remuneration 1,134 1,080
Staff costs, inclusive of directors’ emoluments (Note 18) 112,246 112,328
Interest income (2,192) (1,339)
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18. STAFF COSTS

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Salaries and other employee benefits 102,876 102,958
Statutory contributions 9,370 9,370

112,246 112,328
19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial risk management:

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

~ Credit risk;
~ Liquidity risk and
~ Market risk

This note presents information about the Company's exposure to each of the above risks, the
Company's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the
Company's management of capital.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Company's risk management framework.

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
market conditions and the Company’s activities.

(i) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counter-party to
a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.  This arises principally
from cash and cash equivalents, securities purchased under resale agreements and
amounts due from customers and related parties.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the statement of financial position
at the reporting date.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial risk management: (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Financial assets:
Cash resources 30,579 24,153
Accounts receivable 29,801 47,151
Short-term investments 94,910 93,908
Long-term investments 22,841 -
Other receivables 9,395 10,939

187,526 176,151

Cash and cash equivalents and securities purchased under resale agreements:

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk including investments by placing cash
resources with substantial counter-parties who are believed to have minimal risk of
default.

Accounts receivable and other receivables:

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. Accounts receivable mainly consist of amounts owing
from corporate customers.  As at 31 December 2017, amounts receivable from two
customers represent 44.33% and 5.90% (2016: 61.58% and 8.46%) of the accounts
receivable balance. There are no other concentrations of credit risk.

The Company does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.

The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of
incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The allowances for
impairment is based on the ageing of the receivables, with provision made for balances
outstanding for over 90 days, if attempts to collect fail and the amount is deemed to be
uncollectible. The Company also provides for receivables that are outstanding for less
than this time period based on information that shows that the receivable balance is
uncollectible.

(ii) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due.  Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset at, or
close to its fair value.  Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

 (a) Financial risk management: (continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk: (continued
The Company’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the company and
monitored by the Finance Department, includes:

~ Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a bi-weekly basis.
~ Maintaining a portfolio of short term deposit balances that can easily be

liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow.

The following table details the Company’s contractual maturity for its financial assets
and financial liabilities. The table below has been drawn up based on undiscounted
contractual maturities of financial assets including interest that will be earned on those
except where the Company anticipates that the cash flows will occur in a different
period, and in the case of financial liabilities, based on the earliest date on which the
Company can be required to pay.

Average
Effective Less than 1
Interest

rate
year

$’000
2017
Financial assets
Non-interest bearing 0.00% 46,888
Interest bearing bank accounts 0.10% 22,887
Fixed interest rate
  securities 4.00% 122,734

192,509

Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing 0.00% 12,280

Average
Effective Less than 1
Interest

rate
year

$’000
2016
Financial assets
Non-interest bearing 0.00% 65,609
Interest bearing bank accounts 0.10% 10,575
Fixed interest rate
securities 4.00% 94,086

170,270

Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing 0.00% 10,877
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial risk management: (continued)

(iii) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. These arise mainly from changes in
interest rates and foreign exchange rates and will affect the Company’s income or the
value of its holdings of financial instrument.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.  The nature
of the Company’s exposures to market risks and it objectives, policies and processes
for managing these risks have not changed significantly over the prior year.  For each
of the major components of market risks the Company has policies and procedures in
place which detail how each risk is managed and monitored.  The management of each
of these major components of market risks and the exposure of the Company at the
reporting date to each major risk are addressed below.

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse movements in foreign
exchange rates. The Company undertakes certain investment transactions
denominated in currencies other than the Jamaican dollar. Exchange rate exposures
are managed within approved policy parameters and maintaining a manageable
balance in the types of investments.

The Company’s investment portfolio is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily with
respect to the United States dollar.

Derivative financial instruments are not presently used to reduce exposure to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.

Concentration of currency risk

The table below summaries the Company’s exposure to foreign exchange rate risk as
at December 31, 2017.

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Bank of Jamaica foreign exchange
buying rates (JM$ to US$)

123.61 127.48

Financial assets:
Cash resources 22,271 14,546
Short term investments 75,942 77,260
Long-term investments 12,566 -

Total financial assets 110,779 91,806
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial risk management: (continued)

(iii) Market risk: (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Company’s investment portfolio is exposed to the United States dollar. The
Company’s sensitivity to a 2% increase, and a 4% decrease (2016: 1% increase, 6%
decrease) in the Jamaican dollar against the United States dollar is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to the key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rate.

The sensitivity of the 2% increase or 4% decrease (2016: 1% increase, 6% decrease)
in the Jamaican dollar against the United States dollar exposure would be a decrease
in profit by J$2.21 million (2016: J$0.92 million) or increase of net profit by J$4.43 million
(2016: J$5.51 million).

The Company’s sensitivity to foreign currency has increased during the year mainly due
to increased holdings of foreign cash and short term investments balances.

Interest rate risk

The Company’s interest rate risk arises from deposits and repurchase agreements.

Interest rate sensitivity

There is no significant exposure to interest rate risk on short term deposits, as these
deposits have a short term to maturity and are constantly reinvested to current market
rates. Short and long- term deposits are at fixed rates and are carried at amortised
cost.

             Price risk management

The Company is exposed to price risks arising from quoted equity instruments.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Financial risk management: (continued)

(iii) Market risk: (continued)

                                  Price risk management (continued)

Price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to price risks
at the reporting date. The analysis is prepared assuming that the number of units at the
reporting date remains the same for the whole year. A 15% increase or decrease (2016:
10% increase or decrease) represents management’s best estimate of the possible
change in equity prices.

If bid prices had been 15% higher/lower (2016: 10% higher/lower) and all other variables
were held constant, the Plan's net assets available for benefits and changes in net assets
available for benefits, would increase/decrease as detailed below:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

 10% increase
/decrease

Quoted shares 474 203

474 203

The change in sensitivity is due to the increase in the fair value of quoted shares.

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The following methods and assumptions have been used to determine the fair values of the
Company’s financial instruments:

(i) The carrying values of cash and bank balances, receivables (excluding income tax
recoverable), accounts payable, securities purchased under resale agreements and
investments in short-term fixed interest rate bearing securities approximate their fair
values because of the short-term maturity of these instruments.

(ii) Investments represents quoted equities which are valued using the year end closing bid
price published by the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

(iii) The carrying value of long term investments approximates fair value, as the interest rates
are similar to market rates at year end.

No significant unobservable inputs were applied in the valuation of the Company’s financial
instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss.
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value measurement recognised in the statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 (See Note 2(f)) based on the degree
to which the fair value is observable:

2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Equity securities 3,160 - - 3,160

2016
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Equity securities 2,027 - - 2,027

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the period.

(c) Capital management:

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders.  The directors of the
Company seek to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholder and creditor
confidence.  The Company defines capital as total shareholders’ equity. There were no changes
in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year.

20. EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT (EPS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY:

Earning per stock unit is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to stockholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary stock units.

2017 2016

Net profit attributable to stockholders ($’000) 18,649 39,341
Weighted average number of ordinary stock units 106,000,000 106,000,000

Basic earnings per stock unit for the prior year $             0.18 $         0.37

21. DIVIDENDS

During the year, the Company declared a dividend of $4.24 million or $0.04 per share (2016: $3.98
million or $0.04 per share). Of the amount declared $4.10 million (2016: $3.87 million) has been paid.
Dividend payable as at 31 December 2017 of $0.14 million (2016: $0.11 million) is included in
accounts payable.
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22. COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENCY

Operating Lease Commitments – Company as Lessee

At the reporting date, the Company had commitments under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements, payable as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Within one year of the reporting date 8,618 9,664
Within one to five years 2,133 10,751

10,751 20,415

Lease payments recognised by the Company as an expense during the year totalled $9.66 million
(2016: $8.49 million).

23.   RECLASSIFICATION OF PRIOR YEAR AMOUNTS

Where necessary, comparative figures are reclassified to conform with changes in presentation in the
current year. In particular, this relates to the reclassification of the following:

The statement of comprehensive income has been presented based on the function of expenses
method.

This reclassification had no impact on the net profit before or after tax as disclosed in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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form of proxy

I/We _________________________________________________________________________________

of _____________________________________________________________  being a member/members

of the above named Company, hereby appoint _______________________________________________

of ____________________________________________________________________________________

or failing him __________________________________________ of ______________________________

_________________________________________________ as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our 

behalf at the 2018 Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 3.30 p.m. on Thursday, June 21,

2018 at Knutsford Court Hotel, 16 Chelsea  Avenue, Kingston and at any adjournment thereof. 

Signed this ____________ day of _________________________ 2018

Signature ______________________________________	 (Signature of primary shareholder)

Name: _________________________________________	 (Name of primary shareholder)

Signature ______________________________________ 	 (Signature of secondary shareholder)

Name: _________________________________________	 (Name of secondary shareholder)

POSTAGE 
STAMP

Notes: 

1. If the appointer is a Corporation, this form must be under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.   

2. A Member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a Proxy to attend and vote in his/her stead.   A Proxy need not be a Member 
of the Company. A Proxy Form is enclosed for your convenience. Completed Proxy Forms must be lodged at the Company’s Registered Office, 69 
½ Harbour Street, Kingston at least forty-eight hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting. The Proxy Form shall bear the stamp 
duty of $100.00 before being signed. The stamp duty may be paid by adhesive stamp(s) to be cancelled by the person executing the Proxy.
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tTech is a partner,  

they are not a vendor.   

There’s a huge difference 

between those two….  

We figure it out and we get 

better.  And that’s the beauty 

of a partnership, it really 

works to the betterment  

of both parties.”

- Simon Roberts, Chief Information Officer, 
GraceKennedy Limited

LEAVE IT TO US


